IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

DOUGLAS CANNADY,

Appellant,

JAN 4 1991 CLERK, SOPREME COURT By-**Deputy Clerk**

v.

CASE NO. 76,262

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR JACKSON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR #271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This a capital case. The record on appeal consists of three volumes of pleadings, which will be referred to by the letter "R." The transcript of the trial will be indicated by the letter "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Jackson County on October 20, 1989 charged Douglas Cannady with two counts of first degree murder and one count of attempted first degree murder (R 1-2). A motion was later filed to determine his competency to stand trial (R 15-16), and the court ordered the required examinations (R 156). Although one expert had some question of his competence when he examined him, he later changed his opinion and found Cannady competent to stand trial (R 213-14). Cannady also filed a notice that he intended to plead insanity at the time he committed the homicides (R 279).

Cannady was tried before Judge McCrary and found guilty as charged on all counts (T 375-77). At the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended two death sentences (T 406-407). The court followed those recommendations, and it sentenced the defendant to death for both murders (R 423-28). It sentenced him to 22 years for the attempted murder (T 427). All sentences are to run consecutive to each other.

In justifying each death sentence, the court found the same aggravating and mitigating circumstances, namely, in aggravation, it found:

> The murders were especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel.
> The murders were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any moral or legal justification.

In mitigation, the court found:

1. The murder was committed while Cannady was under the influence of some mental or emotional disturbance (but not extreme)

-2-

 Cannady was under a mental stress but not under any physical duress or domination of another.
Cannady was an alcoholic and suffers from depression.

(R 429-435).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Douglas Cannady was an alcoholic, and he had probably been so since he was in high school in the mid 1950's (T 1148). Almost everyone that had had any dealings with him mentioned that he drank, and some people had never seen him sober (T 908, 942). By 1989, he would drink one or two six packs of beer every day after work, and Fridays were the start of his "beertime." (T 1169) Predictably, he had accumulated over the years several drinking related convictions, and he estimated he had been charged with or convicted 17 to 23 times for driving while under the influence of intoxicants (T 1212-1216).

Cannady was married and had two children, Christopher, 15, and Angela 18 (T 849-850). He and his wife lived in a doublewide trailer behind the gas station he ran in Greenwood, a small community near Marianna (T 850).

He also owned a bar (T 940) at which he had had problems with fights. On one occasion in the spring of 1989, Steve Russ had gotten into a fight in front of Cannady's bar, and the defendant had broken it up by firing his gun, apparently at no one in particular and probably into the air to stop the brawls (T 940-41). Russ was placed on community control for the incident (T 941), and in return, he filed a complaint against Cannady for shooting the gun at him (T 940). He quickly dropped it after the two men resolved their differences (T 940). Cannady's wife nevertheless worried that Russ might "mess with him," and she bought some bullets for her husband's gun (T 900).

-4-

On Sunday, July 23, Cannady, his wife and children, had finished working around the house when they received an invitation from some friends to come over for a bar BQ dinner (T 1190). They accepted and Cannady and his wife, Georgia, went to the party which lasted into the night. Sometime during the evening, the hostess' daughter called from the hospital telling her mother that she was going into labor (T 1191). Several guests left, but Cannady's wife and Gerald Boisvert stayed at the house (T 1193). Cannady passed out (T 1194).

He came to about 9 p.m. and asked for his wife, but no one seemed to know where she was. By this time, Cannady was too drunk to drive, and his daughter took him to various places to look for her (T 1305). He could not find her that night, so he called the sheriff's office to tell them that she was missing (T 1201). The next morning he found Boisvert who said he had let Georgia Cannady out of his car at a truck stop (T 1199). About noon, someone brought her home, and she told her husband the same story Boisvert had given him (T 1208). She added that after Boisvert had left her, she left the truckstop with another woman (T 1209).

Over the next several days, Cannady noticed scratches on Georgia's shoulders and that she did not want to have sexual intercourse with him because she was "hurting." (T 1221) He suspected that Boisvert had raped his wife (T 1222), and he took her to the sheriff's office to file a complaint. He had been drinking, but according to the officer that interviewed the couple, he was not drunk (T 1035). Cannady apparently

-5-

dominated the conversation, and he told officer Cloud that his wife had been raped. After a while he became so obnoxious and impossible to talk to that Cloud asked to speak with his wife in private (T 1036). A short time later, she came out of his office and said she was ready to go. She did not want to press charges against Boisvert (T 1036).

Over the next two months, Georgia was despondent and on several occasions said that she wished she were dead (T 1238). Cannady again suspected Boisvert and other men had raped his wife, and at one point he lured him into his house and beat him (T 1166).

On October 1, Cannady, his wife, and Christopher were at home, Angela having already gone to work (T 851). Mrs. Cannady was again depressed over being raped by Boisvert and wished he were dead (T 1238). Cannady had already drunk at least 14 beers since waking and his wife 4 (T 917). Upset, Cannady got a .38 caliber pistol from a hiding place in the trailer and began cleaning it (T 1234). His wife asked that he sit next to her on the living room couch, and as he started to get up with the gun in his hand, he tripped or his ankle gave out on him, and the gun fired (T 1240-41). The bullet hit his wife in the chest, killing her (T 1106). Christopher came out of his room where he had been watching television, and Cannady told his son that "He had to do it." (T 859) That she was "gone. She's not suffering." (T 1242)

Cannady then told his son to get in their truck, and he did so (T 859). The defendant then drove to where Boisvert

-6-

lived, and on the way there he told Christopher that he was going to kill Boisvert (T 861). Though he drove fast, it took him fifteen minutes to get to Boisvert's house, and once there he asked Boisvert, who was standing in his front yard with another man and his two children, for a beer (T 861-63). Boisvert came to Cannady's truck, and Cannady shot him in the head several times (T 865). He then reloaded his gun, got out of his truck, and shot him again (T 865-66).¹

The defendant drove away, and as he did so, he reloaded his gun after Christopher refused to do so for him (T 867). Cannady then drove to where Steve Russ lived, and the defendant said he was going to kill him because of the problems he had caused at his bar (T 869). When he got to Russ' house, he asked Russ for a beer (T 870), but Russ, who was on community control, said he did not have any (T 936-37). Cannady then shot at Russ, who was standing in the front doorway, missing him (T 870). Russ turned and fled through the house (T 870). Cannady ran after him and shot at him again, missing him as he had done with the three other shots (T 871).

Cannady and his son then went home, but they did not have the key to the front door of their trailer, so they drove to where Angela worked, and while Cannady waited in the truck, Christopher went inside to get the key from his sister

¹Boisvert was shot seven times (T 1109).

(T 872-73). He did not tell her what had happened; instead he took the key and got back in the truck.

As the pair returned home, a police car followed them, and when Cannady finally reached his trailer, he placed the gun and bullets under the seat and went inside (T 874). Before doing so, he told his son that he knew he was going to prison (T 874), and he waved the police aside, telling them that "he was not going to talk with anyone now." (T 963) Undeterred, the police arrested Cannady. After his arrest, the defendant tried to commit suicide three times (T 1181).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Cannady presents six issues for this court to review: two guilt and four penalty phase errors. The first question this court must resolve involves jury selection. During that process, several jurors, when asked their views on the death penalty, said they did not "believe in it." No further inquiry was made as to the depth of that belief and whether the prospective juror could set aside his or her views and follow the law and oath as a juror. The law allows jurors who are opposed to imposition of the death penalty to be excused only if such views would substantially impair their ability to sit as an impartial juror. In this case, the inquiry regarding the depth of the death penalty beliefs of these prospective jurors was so anemic that this court cannot say with assurance that they were unqualified to sit.

During the trial, Cannady called his daughter, Angela, to testify about, among other things, her mother telling her that she had been raped. The court granted the State's objection to this testimony on hearsay grounds. Such testimony, however, was not hearsay because it was not offered for its truth. Instead, Cannady wanted it admitted to show the effect such knowledge had upon him, and it was particularly relevant to why he shot Boisvert.

While the jury deliberated over the appropriate sentence, it asked the court what "duress" meant as used in the mitigating factor that "The defendant acted under extreme duress..." The court correctly told it that duress referred

-9-

to an external force. It erred, however, in not fully instructing the jury that it could consider mental "duress" as mitigation. Normally, the scope of any reinstruction lies within the trial court's discretion. But, when it gives such guidance, the additional instructions must be complete and accurate. In this case, without fully instructing the jury regarding what it could find as mitigation, the court unconstitutionally limited what the jury could consider in recommending a sentence of life in prison.

In justifying its death sentences for the murders of Georgia Cannady and Gerald Boisvert, the court found each murder to have been especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. That was error because both killings were quickly done and without prolonged mental or physical suffering by either victim. Georgia Cannady was shot only once, and except for Cannady's statement that "he had to do it," it would have been an accidental homicide. Gerald Boisvert's killing was quickly done and the victim had no forewarning of what was about to happen. He died either immediately or shortly after the first shot. In any event, he was not tortured and suffered no prolonged agony.

The court also found Cannady committed both murders in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. As to Georgia Cannady, the court said what the defendant did immediately before he shot his wife showed the necessary heightened premeditation. That was error because there was obviously no plan. That is, Cannady killed his wife in the middle of the

-10-

day while his son was in the next room of their home. He made no effort to hide the body, and in fact left it when he decided to kill Boisvert.

Although the murder of Boisvert may have been committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, the defendant had a pretense of legal or moral justification for doing so. That is, he believed this man had raped his wife, and such a belief may not have been sufficient to avoid a first degree murder conviction, but it was sufficient to prevent this aggravating factor from applying.

Finally, this is not a death case. Douglas Cannady was 48 years old when he committed this double homicide. For well over half of those years he has been an alcoholic, and it is doubtful he has been sober for at least the last twenty years. He had committed a burglary when a youth, but since then he has not had any serious offenses, especially violent crimes. If he did not believe Boisvert had raped his wife, he would not have committed these murders. As it was his alcohol soaked brain conjured up a picture of his wife being either unfaithful or wronged. He was determined to correct the crimes the police were unwilling to prosecute, so he killed his wife and Boisvert. This court has traditionally been unwilling to impose a death sentence for murders arising out of domestic problems, and particularly when the defendant has been under the influence of alcohol. So here, these murders do no justify imposing death sentences on Cannady.

-11-

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN EXCUSING FOR CAUSE SEVERAL PROSPECTIVE JURORS BECAUSE OF THEIR VIEWS ON THE DEATH PENALTY, VIOLATING CANNADY'S FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL.

During jury selection, the state questioned a prospective juror Smith regarding her views on the death penalty. The entire colloquy is as follows:

Q. Thank you, sir. Mrs. Smith, do you believe in the death penalty?

A. I don't.

Q. You don't?

A. Not really.

Q. Okay, that's fine, ma'am, that's fine. Since you don't believe in it you could not vote for it then in a case?

A. I don't think so.

Q. You don't think so. Thank you, ma'am.

(T 558).

Counsel for Cannady did not ask Ms. Smith any questions, but he did object to the state's challenge for cause of this prospective juror (T 599). The court, despite this objection, excused Ms. Smith for cause (T 600).

Later, almost the same conversation occurred between the prosecutor and three other prospective jurors:

Let me just start off over here. Ms. Goodson, do you believe in the death penalty, ma'am?

A. No.

Q. By not believing in it, Ms. Goodson, that means you could not vote for it then in a case? Α. (Indicating in the negative) Okay, thank you, ma'am? Mr. Garrett, Q. do you understand how I explained how the death penalty works in Florida? Α. Yes. Do you believe in the death penalty? Ο. No? Α. Thank you, sir. Ms. Elliot, do you Q. believe in the death penalty? 4 * × Q. Okay. Ms. Hayes, do you believe in the death penalty? I do not. Α. Does that mean, Ms. Hayes, you could not 0. then vote for it? A. Right. Q. Thank you, ma'am. Mr. Holmes, do you believe in the death penalty? (T 754-55).

The court, at the state's request, excused these prospective jurors for cause because of their views on the death penalty (T 795). That was error.

The law in this area is simple. In <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 469 U.S. 412, 105 S.Ct. 844, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985), the United States Supreme Court adopted language from its decision in <u>Adams v. Texas</u>, 448 U.S. 38, 100 S.Ct. 2521, 65 L.Ed.2d (1980), concerning the standard courts should apply in excusing for cause death scrupled prospective jurors:

We therefore take this opportunity to clarify our decision in Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968) and to reaffirm the above quoted standard from Adams as the proper standard for determining when a prospective juror may be excluded for cause because of his or her views on capital That standard is whether the punishment. juror's views would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." We note that in dispensing with Witherspoon's reference to "automatic" decision-making, this standard likewise does not require that a juror's bias be proven with "unmistakable clarity."

Witt, at 424 (Footnote omitted.)

Applied to this case, the question is whether any of the challenged prospective juror's views would have substantially interfered with their determination of the proper sentence. The problem is that from the sparse questioning by the prosecutor, we do not know what their views were. That is, there is no evidence that whatever they may have believed about the death penalty, that attitude would have affected their decision regarding Cannady's guilt. Additionally, the state made no effort to determine if, despite those views on the death penalty, they could have listened to and followed the court's instructions regarding the weighing of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. In other words could they have followed their oaths as jurors and render a decision based solely upon the facts and law?

The inquiry is not so much different from that required when a case has some notoriety. In such cases, the central

-14-

question is one of fairness. Can the juror put aside what he has learned outside the courtroom, and base his decision solely upon what he has heard at trial? If so, then the prospective juror is eligible to sit. So, here. The proper inquiry is whether prospective jurors could have set aside any preconceived notions regarding imposition of the death penalty and follow their oaths as a juror. On that question there was precious little inquiry, the only question being an ambiguous "Do you believe in the death penalty?"

Belief in the death penalty, however, is not an article of faith, to which a person must swear loyalty before he is eligible to sit as a juror. People who oppose sentencing men to death are not ineligible to sit merely because of that opposition. Instead, <u>Witt</u> focuses upon the proper inquiry. Conduct, not belief. Would those views prevent or substantially impair the performance of the prospective juror's duties as contained in the court's instructions and in the oath?

Thus, the State here never focussed its inquiry upon the <u>Witt</u> requirements. The challenged prospective jurors were uncertain about imposing a death sentence, and such uneasiness was understandable considering the sparsity of information given to them about their role in imposing the death penalty. The prosecutor never asked them if they could set aside their views about the death penalty in the abstract and apply the law to the facts in this case. Often when beliefs, which a person thinks are firm, are tested in the crucible of a trial, they

-15-

melt, harden or are transformed. Without asking any of these prospective jurors if they could listen to and follow the court's instructions, the trial court and this court have no idea whether they were unqualified to sit as jurors.

This court should, therefore, reverse the trial court's judgment and sentence and remand for a new trial. MS. SESSIONS.

Regarding prospective juror Sessions, all that was asked her regarding the death penalty was the following:

Q. Ms. Sessions, do you believe in the death penalty?

A. Yes.

A. Could you vote for it under the appropriate circumstances?

A. Yes.

Other questions were asked of her (T 625, 634, 652), but none of them had to do with her imposition of the death penalty. Inexplicably, the State asked, over defense objection (T 667),² to excuse this prospective juror because "She answered that no, she could not vote for it. . . She said she didn't believe in it." (T 667) Without any further inquiry or questioning, the court granted that challenge (T 669-70).

Unless appellate counsel has missed something, he can find absolutely no reason to believe Ms. Sessions was opposed to the

²Defense counsel objected to the state's challenge for cause, but he also said he thought it was correct.

death penalty. She never said she was opposed its imposition; to the contrary, she said she could vote for it under the appropriate circumstances. Under the <u>Witt</u> test, she was qualified to sit as a juror, and the court erred by granting the state's challenge for cause for her. ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING ANGELA CANNADY'S TESTIMONY THAT HER MOTHER HAD TOLD HER BOISVERT HAD RAPED HER.

During Cannady's case in chief, the defendant called Angela Cannady, Cannady's daughter. As part of his direct examination, he asked her about what happened the night in July her mother disappeared. Specifically, he wanted to question her about Boisvert's rape of Georgia Cannady.

> Q. And after that did you ever, did your mother ever confide in you with regard to what happened that night?

MR. WRIGHT [the prosecutor]: Let me object. Can we approach the bench?

MR. ADAMS [defense counsel]: That just calls for a "yes" or "no". Maybe it is premature. (Conference at bench-on record)

MR. WRIGHT: He's getting into absolutely the purest rank hearsay. We have gone all week with it. He's asking the daughter what her dead momma told her.

MR. ADAMS: I didn't ask her that.

MR. WRIGHT: He's fixing to.

THE COURT: Has she . . .

MR. ADAMS: Sure she verified it. She said in the deposition she said she had been raped. It is an exception to hearsay rule. The declarant is unavailable.

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