IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOUGLAS CANNADY,

Appellant

v.

CASE NO. 76, 262

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR JACKSON COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant is not entitled to relief on any of his six claims.

The first issue (exclusion of biased jurors) was not preserved for review and lacks record support.

The second issue (exclusion of hearsay) was legally correct since the proffered hearsay was never connected to the Appellant (communicated to him) in any way which could arguably support admission.

The third issue (the definition of duress) was unpreserved and is meritless.

The fourth issue (heinous-atrocious-cruel) is resolved separately as to each murder, as is the "cold, calculated and premeditated" issue in argument five. Both of Cannady's murders qualified for these aggravating factors.

Finally, Cannady's death sentences were proportional given the nature and number of murders at bar and the absence of any substantial mitigation.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS "WITHERSPOON" CLAIM

The Appellant contends that his right to an impartial jury under Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510 (1968), and Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412 (1985), was violated by the trial court. Mr. Cannady, however, failed to preserve the issue for appellate review and has failed to show either error or prejudice.

### (A) The issue was not preserved

If, as required, all facts and inferences therefrom are taken in favor of the judgment, Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980); Gilvin v. State, 418 So.2d 996 (Fla. 1982), it is apparent from this record that Cannady failed to preserve this issue for review.

First, counsel for the Appellant put two general objections to the exclusion of "Witherspoon" jurors into the record, but counsel never objected to the exclusion of any particular juror by name. Thus, even in his appellate brief, Cannady has had to guess at the identify of the "wrongfully" excluded jurors while not discussing the exclusion of other "Witherspoon" jurors at all. We have no guarantee that appellate counsel's choices are the same as trial counsel's choices or that trial counsel felt that any particular juror was redeemable under Witt, supra.

Second, the attorney for Mr. Cannady, perhaps because it would have been futile to do so, did not attempt to rehabilitate

any of the excluded jurors. This point is conceded in Mr. Cannady's brief. (Brief of Appellant, page 12). Since each stricken juror stated both opposition to capital punishment and an inability to ever vote "for death", there is no record basis for speculation regarding rehabilitation.

To cover up this record deficiency, the Appellant suggests that the State should have attempted "rehabilitation" in defense counsel's stead. This odd suggestion clearly lacks legal or logical support. The simple fact is, defense counsel had a duty to preserve and construct the record so that his general "Witherspoon" objection could be tied to particular jurors.

In Floyd v. State, 15 F.L.W. S465 (Fla. 1990), defense counsel raised an objection to the State's peremptory exclusion of a black juror. The State offered a race-neutral explanation for the exclusion (opposition to the death penalty), which, as it turned out from the transcript, was wrong as to that juror. Trial counsel, however, failed to challenge the State's "race neutral" reason or develop the record. This Court held that the issue was not preserved for appellate review despite counsel's initial objection.

We have the same scenario. Counsel's general objection did not attach to any particular juror. No record was developed or preserved. We cannot identify, therefore, the "wrongfully excluded" jurors. In the absence of either a specific objection or a complete record, Mr. Cannady's claim is barred from appellate review.

### (B) Error or prejudice

Each of the challenged jurors expressed both opposition to capital justice and an unwillingness to ever vote to impose a death sentence. There is absolutely nothing in the transcript reflecting vacillation, a willingness to vote for death or an intent to honestly consider death as a possible sentence. Mr. Cannady's brief, while gamely trying to "interpret" the cold transcript, offers nothing more than bald speculation. Florida does not reverse on speculation, Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974), especially from a cold transcript.

In Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412 (1985), the United States Supreme Court held that jurors were not immune from exclusion, under Witherspoon, unless they made it "unmistakenly clear" they would "automatically vote against" capital punishment. Since it is impossible, at times, to obtain a desired, unequivocal, confession of bias, the United States Supreme Court said that it would defer in such an assessment to the decision to the trial judge who could see and hear the juror.

In our case, the transcripts do not convey the juror's "body language" or tone of voice. It could be that the juror's answers were delivered in such a way as to make the speaker's bias crystal clear.

In Randolph v. State, 562 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1990), this Court followed the principles set forth in Witt and refused to second-guess the trial court's assessment of "equivocal" voir dire responses from a venirewoman. This Court said that the record did not evince a "clear ability to set aside" the juror's beliefs and, in turn, did not demonstrate an abuse of discretion.

The venirewoman in Randolph gave contradictory answers. The jurors at bar did not. Every one of them said they would not vote for "death", and none were rehabilitated or even challenged by the defense on this issue.

Finally, we submit that Mr. Cannady has not shown bias. He has not alleged that he was left with a biased jury nor has he shown that his jury automatically voted for death. Quite the contrary, this jury asked questions about "duress" while carefully deliberating over his sentence and several voted for "life". Absent a showing of prejudice, Cannady is not entitled to relief even if we were to speculate as to the existence of "error". Penn v. State, 16 F.L.W. S117 (Fla. 1991); Trotter v. State, 16 F.L.W. S17 (Fla. 1991); Hitchcock v. State, 16 F.L.W. S23 (Fla. 1991); see Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81 (1988).

Mr. Cannady failed to preserve this issue, failed to make a record, failed to show actual error and failed to show prejudice. He is not entitled to relief.

### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING THE IRRELEVANT HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF ANGELA CANNADY

The Appellant contends that the hearsay statement of Georgia Cannady, to Angela Cannady, that Gerald Boisvert raped her should have been admitted to prove the truth of the matter asserted. We submit that this argument flies in the face of the very definition of hearsay evidence and is totally meritless, if not nonsense.

The use of Georgia's statement to prove a "rape" is the very sort of conduct prohibited by §90.802, Fla.Stat. Furthermore, the hearsay statement falls within no known exception to the rule.

First, we must never forget that Cannady's state of mind was at issue, not the factual basis for that set of beliefs. Thus, the issue at bar was not whether Georgia was raped but, rather, whether Douglas thought she was raped. Georgia's statements to Angela do not prove or disprove "what Douglas thought", especially when we consider the fact that Angela never reported Georgia's statements to Douglas anyway.

Second, since Angela did not repeat Georgia's statements to Douglas, Georgia's statements were unknown to Douglas and were irrelevant to the creation or maintenance of any beliefs Douglas might have had. As the State noted at trial, if Angela had told Douglas what Georgia said, the statements would have been admissible. No such proffer was ever made even after this open invitation. Why? Because Angela never, in fact, told Douglas about Georgia's statements and Douglas never acted in reaction to or response to said statements.

On appeal, Cannady cites to Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). Breedlove, however, defeats Cannady's claim. First, Breedlove, recognizes that hearsay cannot be used to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Second, Breedlove recognizes that to establish an exception to the hearsay rule, the defendant must show communication of the statement to him and action in reliance upon it. Thus, the admissibility of the statement is

dependent upon communication and reliance, but never on the truth of the matter asserted.

Similarly, in Downs v. State, 16 F.L.W. S106 (Fla. 1991), this Court held that it was error for a trial court to admit the hearsay statements of another victim-wife because: (1) they were offered to prove the matter asserted (fear of the defendant), and (2) they were irrelevant to the issue of the defendant's state of mind. See Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1988).

Downs and Breedlove apply to this case. Douglas Cannady could not "prove" his wife was raped by admitting his wife's hearsay statements to Angela. Again, Cannady's brief, by confessing that this was the defendant's intent in offering this evidence, defeats his claim.

Finally, we note that any "error" was harmless. Cannady testified that his wife told him she was raped and testified to scratches and sores on her body. Other witnesses testified that Cannady thought Boisvert had raped his wife. There can be no doubt that the jury knew what Cannady thought and what he did in response. Even if the court had erred, any error was harmless. Ciccarelli v. State, 531 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1988); State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

#### POINT III

THE APPELLANT DID NOT PRESERVE THE "DURESS INSTRUCTION" ISSUE FOR REVIEW AND IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF

Mr. Cannady's brief not only concedes that the trial court correctly defined "duress" (Brief of Appellant, page 23), but also conspicuously fails to advise the court that defense counsel

did not object to the trial court's definition and, in turn, did not preserve this issue for appellate review. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); State v. Cumbie, 380 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1980); Jacobs v. Wainwright, 450 So.2d 200 (Fla. 1984); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Floyd v. State, supra; Hitchcock v. State, 16 F.L.W. S17 (Fla. 1991).

It is submitted that defense counsel did not object because the trial court correctly defined "duress". Mr. Cannady's brief confesses, as it must, that Toole v. State, 479 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985), describes "extreme duress" as duress stemming from external, not internal, forces such as physical threats, physical force or the threat of imprisonment. Georgia Cannady did not exert such external pressure on the defendant. She did not impose a physical threat, nor did she force Douglas Cannady to kill her by other means.

While Cannady may have hated Gerald Boisvert, Boisvert did not pose a physical or external threat to Cannady. The undisputed standard of Toole, therefore, did not apply to the Boisvert murder either. Thus, counsel had no reason to object to the Court's answers. Mr. Cannady has not demonstrated any entitlement to review or to relief.

#### POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THESE MURDERS HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL

The "heinous-atrocious-cruel" (hereafter "H-A-C"), statutory aggravating factor was applied to both murders by the sentencer. The facts supporting this factor differ significantly as to each murder so the crimes will be discussed separately.

The State recognizes that the H-A-C factor is intended for application in those homicides accompanied by such additional facts as to set them apart from the "norm" of capital felonies. In particular, the murder must be conscienceless, pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the victim. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Amoros v. State, 531 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 1988).

"Heinous" and "atrocious" are terms attached to wicked or shockingly evil crimes while "cruel" refers to the infliction of a high degree of suffering with utter indifference to the plight of the victim. Dixon, supra.

## (A) Georgia Cannady's Murder

In keeping with the jury's suggestion of death, which was entitled to great weight, **Tedder v. State**, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), the sentencer imposed a death sentence for the murder of Georgia Cannady.

There was only one eyewitness to the shooting itself: Douglas Cannady. Cannady, however, departed from his alcoholism defense and testified with great particularity that the shooting of Georgia was nothing more than an accident. At (R 150), Cannady told Dr. Walker that the gun discharged when he gripped his chair to get up. At trial, Douglas Cannady claimed that a spring broke on his chair as he got up from it and his ankle "popped" (R 1241). His gun butt hit the arm of the chair and perhaps his finger was on the trigger (R 1241). The gun discharged and killed his wife (R 1241). Cannady said that his son Chris came into the room and Cannady "comforted" Chris and said Georgia's suffering was over (R 1241-1242).

This story was refuted by the firearms expert, Dave Williams (R 1042-1092), who testified in detail that the murder weapon could not have gone off by accident. Chris Cannady, of course, testified to the defendant's statement, "I had to do it" (R 859), and how Douglas just sat and watched Georgia die, never once rising to check his (so-called) "accidental victim".

The jury, at trial and at sentencing, rejected the Appellant's version of the events, thus leaving us clear findings of guilt and of death eligibility. On appeal, all facts and all inferences from the known facts must be taken in favor of the verdict and sentence. Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980); Gilvin v. State, 418 So.2d 996 (Fla. 1982).

Since Douglas Cannady's version of the events has no credibility, the operative facts and inferences are these:

- (1) Douglas Cannady argued with his wife.
- (2) Douglas Cannady retrieved his gun and ammunition.
- (3) Douglas Cannady methodically cleaned and reloaded his gun.
- (4) Douglas Cannady aimed his gun at Georgia.
- (5) Douglas Cannady shot Georgia in the heart.
- (6) Douglas Cannady watched Georgia bleed to death (internally) while doing nothing to help her.

The State recognizes that the H-A-C factor is not always applied in single-shot murder cases, including Williams v. State, 16 F.L.W. S167 (Fla. 1991); Robinson v. State, 16 F.L.W. S107 (Fla. 1991), but, as Mr. Cannady concedes, this factor has been

applied to some single-shot or execution style killings. Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986); Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985); Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1982); see also Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982).

In those cases in which "H-A-C" was not proven, the victim's near instantaneous death was usually caused by a stranger and/or was the result of a sudden, unexpected confrontation. For example, in Williams, supra, a bank guard was shot "with little delay", while in Robinson, supra, the victim was killed at once without any apprehension of death. In Parker v. State, 458 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984), the victim knew the defendant but never knew she was about to be executed when Parker took her to her boyfriend's "grave".

On the other hand, in Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986), the H-A-C finding was upheld since Huff killed his own father. Even though there was no evidence that the victim knew his son was going to kill him, this Court recognized the shock and anguish the victim must have felt when he turned around and saw Huff about to shoot him. The Court may also have considered the conscienceless nature of the murder.

In our case, Mrs. Cannady (who had been drinking), did not reflexively raise her hands as Mr. Huff (who was sober) did, but she had to have been as shocked as the senior Mr. Huff was when a trusted family member opened fire on her. She should not, therefore, be denied the equal protection of the law due to the speed of her reflexes.

In Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1982), a finding of H-A-C was upheld where the defendant killed his wife with a single shot, before she could react, as he pulled up next to her in traffic. The finding was upheld due to his earlier threats and his stalking of his victim. In our case, we had a month of marital problems, a wife who was scared of being beaten (R 1011), and a methodical, conscienceless execution-style murder.

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